
COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA  

 

 
January 11, 2023 
7:00 PM at Park Place Community Center in Pride Park (5606 Taylor Mill Road) 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 

INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Mayor Bell  
 

MINUTES: Approval of Minutes from the 12/14/2022 Commission Meeting 

  Approval of Minutes from the 01/06/2023 Special Commission Meeting 
   

GUESTS: Proclamation – Recognizing Jessica Fisk, Kentucky School Psychologist of the Year  

Von Lehman – FY22 Audit Presentation 
  Eric Blankenship – 5440 Stonehill Drive (Code Enforcement Issue) 
 

LEGISLATION:  
Municipal Order 126 – Reappointment of the NKY Regional Ethics Authority and approval of the 

Interlocal Agreement 
Municipal Order 127 – Planning and Development Services Council (PDS) – Appointment for Ed 

Kuehne and Caroline Braden Calendar 2013 
Resolution 371 - KY Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Authority Participation Agreement 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:  City Administrator  Legal Counsel  

     City Treasurer   Parks and Recreation 
     Engineering   Public Works 
     Fire    Police 

  
OTHER:  
 
ADJOURNMENT 



1 
 

Min121422 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

COMMISSION MEETING 

Wednesday, December 14, 2022 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 6:59 p.m. and welcomed those in attendance. In 

attendance were Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Mark 

Kreimborg, Commissioner Rose Merritt, Commissioner Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer 

Brian Haney, and City Attorney Jack Gatlin. 

INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Commissioner Merritt led the invocation followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

November 9, 2022 – Commission Meeting 

Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the minutes of the November 9, 2022, 

Commission Meeting. Commissioner Merritt so moved, with a second from Commissioner 

Kreimborg. The Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote. 

APPROVED 

LEGISLATION:  Legislation was sent to and received by the commission prior to the meeting. 

Municipal Order 122 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY APPROVING THE HIRING OF PATROL OFFICER KYLE DUNCAN 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Municipal Order 122. Mayor Bell called 

for a motion to approve Municipal Order 122 to hire Kyle Duncan for the vacant position of patrol 

officer. Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner Murray. 

Commission approved by unanimous vote. 

MOTION APPROVED 

GUESTS: 

Chief James Mills and Commissioner Kreimborg introduced Officer Kyle Duncan who 

was sworn in. City Attorney Jack Gatlin led the Oath of Office. 



2 
 

 

LEGISLATION:  Legislation was sent to and received by the commission prior to the meeting. 

Municipal Order 123 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MLL IN KENTON COUNTY 

KENTUCKY MAKING THE WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS REQUIRED BY KRS 82.083 

FOR THE SALE OR OTHER DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY OWNED BY THE CITY 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Municipal Order 123. Mayor Bell called 

for a motion to approve a Municipal Order 123 for the sale of two motor vehicles. Commissioner 

Braden made a motion with a second from Commissioner Murray. Commission approved by 

unanimous vote.  

MOTION CARRIED 

Municipal Order 124 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MLL IN KENTON COUNTY 

KENTUCKY REAPPOINTING MATT MARTIN AS A MEMBER OF THE KENTON 

COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION TO REPRESENT THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the reading of Municipal Order 124. Mayor Bell called 

for a motion to approve a Municipal Order 124 for the reappointment of Matt Martin to the KCPC 

as a representative of the City for the term of January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2027. 

Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. Commission 

approved by unanimous vote.  

MOTION CARRIED 

GUESTS: 

Stu Bowns of 2400 Shadow Hill Court addressed the Commission suggesting the City 

look at the software that the City of Edgewood uses for records. 

 

Ed Kuehne of 5303 Old Taylor Mill Road addressed the Commission requesting that the 

BOA Minutes and Commission Minutes be updated on the City website. 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None 

 

NEW BUSINESS: None 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:   

 The Commission reviewed reports from the following staff members: City Administrator, 

Treasurer, Engineering, Fire/EMS, Legal Counsel, Parks and Recreation, Public Works, and 

Police.  

 



3 
 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Kreimborg so moved, with a second from Commissioner Merritt to adjourn the 

meeting. The motion passed with the unanimous approval of the Commission, the time being 7:51 

p.m. 

                                                                                                                      MOTION CARRIED 

The next Commission Meeting will be Wednesday, January 11, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



 

1 
 

Min010623 

City of Taylor Mill 

SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 

Friday, January 6, 2023 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the special meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. Those present were Mayor 

Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Ed Kuehne, Commissioner Dan 

Murray, and City Administrative Officer Brian Haney. Commissioner Mark Kreimborg was 

absent. 

LEGISLATION:   

MUNICIPAL ORDER 125 – Emergency Order Server Weather and Water Line Break 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON COUNTY, 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY, ADDING TO THE SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

DURING THE STATE OF EMERGENCY  

City Administrator provided the reading of Municipal Order 125. Mayor Bell called for a 

motion to approve Municipal Order 125 to declare an Emergency due to the severe and prolonged 

temperatures that caused a waterline break in the City building. Commissioner Murray made a 

motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. Commission approved by unanimous voice call 

vote. 

MOTION APPROVED 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Kuehne so moved, with a second from Commissioner Murray to adjourn the 

meeting. Commission approved by unanimous vote, the time being 10:02 a.m.    

MOTION CARRIED 

The next Special Commission Meeting will be on Wednesday, January 11, 2023, at 7:00 

p.m. at the Park Place Community Center in Pride Park located at 5606 Taylor Mill Road.  

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

 



 

2 
 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



MUNICIPAL ORDER NO. 126 (01-11-23) 

  

 

AN ORDER ACCEPTING THE RE-APPOINTMENT OF MARCUS 

CAREY, DARRYL CUMMINS, ROBERT SANDERS, TOM QUIRK, 

BRYCE C. RHOADES, AND JACK WESTWOOD AND THE 

APPOINTMENT OF JAMES DADY AS MEMBERS OF THE NORTHERN 

KENTUCKY REGIONAL ETHICS AUTHORITY ENFORCEMENT 

COMMITTEE FOR A TWO-YEAR TERM, COMMENCING FEBRUARY 

1, 2023 AND EXPIRING ON JANUARY 31, 2025. 

 

 

 WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 355 (04/08/20) (as amended) established a code of ethical 

conduct applicable to the officers and employees of the City of Taylor Mill and its agencies; and  

   

 WHEREAS, the city of Taylor Mill entered into an inter-local agreement to join the 

Northern Kentucky Regional Ethics Authority (NKREA) to implement said CODE OF ETHICS; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, Article III(A) of the Inter-local gives the NKREA Authority Board the 

authorization to select members of the NKREA Enforcement Committee subject to the approval 

of each member jurisdiction’s relevant legislative body;  

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority Board re-nominated Marcus Carey, Darryl Cummins, Robert 

Sanders, Tom Quirk, and Bryce Rhoades to each serve a two-year term on the NKREA 

Enforcement Committee; 

 

 WHEREAS, NKREA Enforcement Committee Member James Dady was appointed by 

the NKREA Authority Board to fill the committee’s vacancy; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTON COUNTY, KENTUCKY: 

 

Section 1 

 

 That the appointment of Marcus Carey, Darryl Cummins, Robert Sanders, Tom Quirk, 

Bryce Rhoades, Jack Westwood, and James Dady as members of the NKREA Enforcement 

Committee for a two-year term commencing on February 1, 2023, and expiring on January 31, 

2025, is hereby approved.  

 

Section 2 

 

 That this order/resolution shall take effect and be in full force when passed and recorded 

according to law. 

 

 



 

   ___________________________ 

   DANIEL L. BELL, Mayor 

   CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 

 

Date: ______________________ 



 

 
MUNICIPAL ORDER NO. 127 (01-11-2023) 

 

A MUNICIPAL ORDER OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY APPOINTING ED KUEHNE AS REPRESENTATIVE AND CAROLINE 

BRADEN AS ALTERNATE TO THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

COUNCIL TO REPRESENT THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Development Services Council is different from the Kenton 

County Area Planning Commission; 

  

WHEREAS, representation on the Planning and Development Services Council guarantees that 

the City’s needs are considered within the PDS’ annual work priorities and budget; 

 

WHEREAS, Commissioner Ed Kuehne will be appointed as the representative for 2023 to 

represent the City of Taylor Mill;  

 

WHEREAS Commissioner Caroline Braden will be appointed as the alternative for 2023 to 

represent the City of Taylor Mill; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AS FOLLOWS:  

 

Section 1.0 Appointment 

 Ed Kuehne is hereby appointed as the representative and Caroline Braden as an alternate 

of the City of Taylor Mill on the Planning and Development Services, for a term of one (1) year 

that expires at midnight on the evening of January 30, 2024. 

 

Section 2.0 Severability 

The provisions of this Municipal Order are severable, and the invalidity of any provision 

of this municipal order shall not affect the validity of any other provision thereof, and such other 

provisions shall remain in full force and effect as long as they remain valid in the absence of 

those provisions determined to be invalid.   

 

Section 3.0 Repeal of Conflicting Provisions 

All Municipal Orders or parts of Municipal Orders in conflict with the provisions of this 

Municipal Order are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   

 

Section 4.0 Effective Date 

This Municipal Order shall be effective as soon as possible according to law.  

 

             

     _____________________________ 

      DANIEL L. BELL, Mayor   

 

Attest:___________________________ 

 KRISTY WEBB, City Clerk 
 

 Date:________________      



371 (01-11-23) 

 

RESOLUTION 

OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

January 11, 2023 

 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky has enacted Sections 

18A.230-18A.275 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes authorizing the creation of the Kentucky 

Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Authority Board of Trustees and the establishment of 

the Kentucky Public Employees’ Deferred compensation Authority (KDC); and 

WHEREAS, the Commonwealth by KDC sponsors the Kentucky Employees’ 457 Deferred 

Compensation Plan and the Kentucky Public Employees’ 401(k) Deferred Compensation Plan 

which includes KDC’s Deemed IRA Program (the Plans) for adoption by local governmental 

political subdivisions and units; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill wishes to adopt and enter the certain Joinder Agreement 

attached hereto, dates January 11, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT: 

RESOLVED that the City of Taylor Mill Commission, of Kenton County, Commonwealth of 

Kentucky, hereby enters and adopts a Joinder Agreement with KDC for participation in the 457 

Plan and the 401(k) Plan for the benefit of its eligible employees; and, 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that Mayor Daniel L. Bell be, and hereby is, authorized and directed 

by the City of Taylor Mill Commission to execute the Joinder Agreement with KDC, which 

authorizes KDC to administer the Plans on behalf of the City of Taylor Mill, and do all further 

acts and things, and to execute all further documents in writing, which the authorized signature 

determines to be necessary or desirable in order to affect this Resolution. 

Signed and adopted this 11th day of January 2023 by the City of Taylor Mill, Kenton County, 

Kentucky. 

             

        _____________________________ 

        DANIEL L. BELL, Mayor  

   

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY 

INCORPORATED CITY OF TAYLOR MILL  

 

I, Kristy Webb, City Clerk of Taylor Mill certify that the foregoing is a true copy of the Order 

above. Given under my hand and seal of office this the 11th day of January 2023.  

 

    Attest: _____________________________ 

         KRISTY WEBB, City Clerk  



PROCLAMATION 

OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 
 

January 11, 2023 
 

WHEREAS, the Kentucky Association for Psychology in Schools (KAPS) Award recognizes 

one school psychologist each year who goes above and beyond each day, demonstrating a great 

commitment to help students succeed; and 

WHEREAS, Mrs. Jessica Fisk, a school psychologist with Scott High School, has been named 

2022 School Psychologist of the Year by the Kentucky Association for Psychology in Schools 

(KAPS).  

WHEREAS, as a School psychologist, Jessica Fisk is a uniquely qualified member of Scott 

High School that support students’ ability to learn and teachers’ ability to teach. She applies 

expertise in mental health, learning, and behavior, to help students succeed. 

WHEREAS, Jessica Fisk partners with families, teachers, school administrators, and other 

professionals to create safe, healthy, and supportive learning environments that strengthen 

connections between home, school, and the community. 

WHEREAS, as a School psychologist, she provides in-depth psychological services with the 

goal of helping students succeed academically, socially, behaviorally and emotionally.  

WHEREAS, Jessica Fisk helps students who are bullied and those who face struggles like poor 

academic performance, problems at home or mental health issues, and help students who have 

disabilities.  

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill wishes to recognize and honor Scott High School 

Psychologist Mrs. Jessica Fisk as having been awarded the 2022 KAPS Award by the Kentucky 

Association for Psychology in the Schools; and 

WHEREAS, we honor Jessica Fisk for the exceptional difference she makes in the lives of her 

students and peers; and  

NOW THEREFORE, I, Daniel L. Bell, Mayor of the Taylor Mill City and the City 

Commission, wish to express congratulations and gratitude to Jessica Fisk for her service to the 

community. 

This proclamation shall have the full effect and force of the law upon passage according to the 

laws and ordinances of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and under my signature on this 11th day 

of January 2023. 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 



 

 

 

         City of Taylor Mill 

 

CAO REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and City Commissioners      
FROM: Brian Haney, CAO  
DATE:  1/4/2023 
RE:  CAO Report – January 2023   
 

 

The pipes breaking on Christmas Eve and Christmas Day has dominated much of staff’s time during 
the past week and a half.  All of you have surveyed the damage and see what steps we are taking to get 
back into our respective space as quickly as possible.  The immediate remediation was handled by 
Teasdale Fenton.  They set up their fans and dehumidifiers and  removed the damaged flooring and 
drywall that had wicked the water.  Now I must get two bids on the repair. I am asking to replace much 
of the common space flooring with the vinyl planks like we have in the hallway and at the community 
center.  Only the small individual offices will go back as carpet.  I am also proposing to do the same in 
the commission chamber as its carpet was also damaged and must be replaced.  The vinyl will wear 
much longer than even the best commercial carpets and will be much easier to keep clean.   

At this meeting we will have Von Lehman’s FY22 audit presentation.  We will also recognize Jessica 
Fisk, a school psychologist at Scott who was named KY School Psychologist of the Year.  And there is 
a resident from Stonehill Drive who wishes to complain about receiving a warning notice from Code 
Enforcement for having a trailer parked in his driveway.   

Please review the MO to reappoint representatives to the NKY Regional Ethics Authority and the 
necessary Interlocal Agreement that we need to adopt to continue to participate in the regional 
authority. A second MO is to appoint Commissioner Ed Kuehne as the city’s representative to the PDS 
Council and Commissioner Braden as our alternate. Formerly these two positions were held by 
Commissioner Murray and Commissioner Kreimborg.  

Marc and his crew did an excellent job trying to stay ahead of the storm. Unfortunately, the 
temperatures rendered our salt nearly useless and there wasn’t enough snow to get down and scrape. 
The crew switched to sand and was able to provide traction for travelers. 

Kristy kept the office open all day on Saturday December 31st to allow stragglers to get their taxes paid 
without penalty.  Thank you, Kristy, for your dedication and work ethic.  There were a few people who 
took advantage of the last-minute opportunity.   

The city’s employee appreciation and recognition dinner will be held this Friday at the community 
center beginning at 6:30.  We will recognize some employees who stood out this past year and 
celebrate making 2022 a great year overall.  The city will cater the event, but alcohol is BYOB.   

The KLC City Day/City Night event is scheduled for February 22.  During the day city officials are 
encouraged to meet with legislators and attend committee meetings.  City officials can make 
appointments to discuss important issues with their local legislators.  The City Night reception will be 



held at the Kentucky History Center beginning at 4:30.  Please let me know who wishes to attend and I 
will make the necessary reservations.  The event itself is free.   

At your convenience I would recommend going to the Tuscany Development and see the 
condominium complexes currently being erected within Taylor Mill’s portion of the development.  It is 
exciting to see new housing coming into our city.   

Regarding the assignments of commissioners as liaisons for the departments, I would ask that we wait 
and have that discussion at our January 25 caucus meeting.  If not, we can bring it up in new business.  

 Until we get city hall repaired, we will hold all our meetings at the community center.   

Welcome Commissioner Kuehne. I look forward to working with you in the coming months.   









































 
 

Page 1 of 8 
 

MONTHLY PROJECT STATUS UPDATE 

 

Taylor Mill, Kentucky  January 4, 2023 

City  Date 

Prepared by: Shawn Riggs, P.E.   

Item No. Status 

1  

Taylor Mill Sidewalk Phase III (SNK Funded) Project Number:  200793    

Comments:  
May 2018 – December 2020:  CT met with the Mayor on April 26, 2018 with the Mayor to discuss 
the SNK funding application process.  CT prepared the responses to all of the questions for the 
application and all required supporting documents and sent the information to the City on May 
23, 2018.  The City submitted the SNK funding application to OKI prior to the June 01, 2018 
deadline. OKI awarded the Taylor Mill Sidewalk Phase III Project.  Funding for the design of the 
project will be made available in Fiscal Year 2021 (October 1, 2020).  Funding for the right-of-
way/easement acquisitions will be available in FY 2022 (October 1, 2021). Funding for 
construction will be available FY 2023 (October 1, 2022).  An RFQ will need to be prepared 
soon, as the SNK design funding will become available on October 1, 2020 (KYTC Item No. 6-
463).  It is likely that a supplemental MOA between KYTC and the City will need to be executed 
before the RFQ is posted.  On November 20, KYTC District 6 requested the funding 
authorization for the design phase for the construction of new sidewalk along the north/east 
side of Taylor Mill Road (KY 3716) between Saddlebrook Drive and Walnut Street 
 
January – May 2021:  The MOA was received on December 22nd and a resolution to authorize 
the Mayor to sign the agreement was presented during the January Commissioners Meeting.    
The signed MOA and resolution was submitted to KYTC on January 25, 2021.  The MOA was 
fully executed on January 27, 2021.  The RFQ was advertised on March 26, 2021 and posted 
on the City News and Notices webpage.  Responses were received until 11:00 AM on April 15, 
2021.  
 
June – July 2021:  CT Consultants was awarded the professional services contract at the May 
Commissioners Meeting.  A scope and fee proposal for Phase 1 (Preliminary) Design services 
was submitted to the City and KYTC on June 2, 2021.  The Phase 1 design scope of work 
includes survey and preliminary design to obtain Preliminary Line and Grade (PL&G) and 
Environmental (NEPA) approval from KYTC as well as to get a better understanding of ROW 
and utility impacts.   The scope of work can later be amended to include future phase activities 
such as Phase 2 (Final) Design, ROW, and Construction Admin. Services.  The KYTC Pre-
design conference was held on June 24.  KYTC provided the Notice to Proceed with the Phase 
1 (Preliminary) Design scope of services on June 25.  Survey is scheduled to begin in mid-July 
with Phase 1 Design expected to be completed towards the end of 2021.   
 
August 2021 - January 2022:  Field survey work began on July 19.  Initial utility coordination 
efforts began on July 20.  Preliminary plans that show the sidewalk horizontal alignment was 
shared with the Utilities on August 25.  Preliminary plans were shared with the City and the 
utility agencies on October 18.  A joint utility coordination meeting was held on November 3.  A 
public meeting was be held on November 22 at 7:00 P.M at the municipal building.  The public 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 2 of 8 
 

comment/survey period expired on December 15.  The Preliminary Line and Grade Meeting 
was held on December 16, 2021 at KYTC D6.  Updated PL&G plans to reflect KYTC review 
comments are expected to be submitted to KYTC in mid-January so that KYTC can begin the 
NEPA (environmental) process.  NEPA approval is expected to be received in May 2022 
however; final design fees may begin to be negotiated now.  The City should coordinate the 
current programming estimate with OKI in order to reallocate or request additional funds 
(approx. $238,000 total = $190.4k Fed & $47.6k Local). 
 
February 2022 - September 2022:   Updated PL&G plans were submitted to KYTC on January 
10, 2022.  The right-of-way phase federal SNK fund budget was increased by $84,642 under 
OKI’s Administrative Modification #16 on February 8, 2022.  The Final Design scope and fee 
proposal was submitted to the City and KYTC on February 23, 2022.  The Final Design scope 
and fee proposal was approved on March 22, 2022.  The 34 Property Title Reports were 
completed on May 24, 2022.  There are three properties that will require additional 
documentation and discussion to determine how best to proceed.  A meeting with the City 
Attorney to discuss these issues was held on Friday, June 3, 2022.  A copy of the current plan 
set was submitted to KYTC on June 16, 2022 for completion of the CE document.  KYTC 
indicated that Central Office environmental staff are backlogged however, the District 6 Office 
provided plan review comments on June 20, 2022.  Revised plans (80% plans) that include the 
anticipated right-of-way impacts were submitted to KYTC on September 2, 2022.   
 
October 2022:   The geotechnical report was completed on September 20, 2022.  Based on the 
September 2, 2022 plans, an updated right-of-way cost estimate was shared with the City on 
September 29 while an updated construction cost estimate was shared with the City on October 
4, 2022.  The current ROW phase budget is $146,803 whereas the new ROW estimate is 
$140,400.  The current Construction budget is $776,460 whereas the current construction 
estimate is 1,211,155.00.   KYTC has not yet issued NEPA (CE Document) approval.  No right-
of-way work beyond the completed title searches may begin until NEPA approval.  KYTC was 
requested to provide a status update of the NEPA approval on September 29, 2022.   
 
November 2022:  KYTC provided plan review comments on October 20, 2022 and updated 
ROW Plans (80% Plans) were submitted to KYTC on 10/25/2022 for NEPA (CE Document) 
approval.   
 
December 2022: On December 2, 2022, KYTC indicated that the Section 106 historic review 
process is taking longer than anticipated.  There is a severe backlog of project approvals at 
KYTC Central Office DEA (including the Brent Spence Bridge) and SHPO staff turnovers have 
made projects, especially LPA projects come to virtual standstill.  A meeting with KYTC to 
discuss options to avoid further NEPA delays is to be held soon.  OKI’s TIP currently has the 
anticipated project award date listed as 4Q23.   
 
January 2023:  A meeting with KYTC was held on December 16, 2022 to discuss the 
environmental approval status and Section 106 concerns.  In order to minimize impacts 
to a known historical property, a few minor design modifications are to be made and 
revised 80% plans are expected to be submitted to KYTC in January 2023 for a February 
2023 Joint Inspection Meeting.   
 
 
 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 3 of 8 
 

2  

2022 Street Program & Keavy Dr. Improvements Project Number:  210859 

Comments:  
June 2021:   A fee proposal was submitted on May 19, 2021 for the following street segments: 
Roselawn Drive, Valley Square Drive, Heatherstone Court, Stoneledge Court, Millstone Court, 
Homestead Drive, Eureka Drive, Beech Drive, Honeysuckle Drive (From Sawmill Drive To End), 
And Sunny Acres Lane.  The Preliminary Opinion of Construction Cost for these roadways is 
$417,720.   
 
July 2021– January 2022:  CT received project authorization on August 2, 2021.  Final Plans, 
Specifications, and Estimates are to be completed by the end of the year to allow for a January 
construction advertisement date.  A field review meeting was held on October 13, 2021.  The 
2022 Street Program and Keavy Drive Improvements Contract was advertised on January 5, 
2022 with a January 27, 2022 bid opening.    
 
February 2022:  The bid opening was held on January 27, 2022.   Three bid proposals were 
received with prices ranging from $759,059 to $872,384.  It recommended that the project be 
awarded to Michels Construction, Inc.  The pre-construction meeting is expected to be held in 
March 2022.   
 
March 2022:   The contract was awarded to Michels Construction, Inc.  The pre-con meeting is 
expected to be held in March.  The NKWD is to replace the water main on Roselawn Drive 
ahead of the street improvements project.  The NKWD bid opening is expected to take place 
on March 9 with the results being presented to the Board on March 17.  The water main 
replacement work on Roselawn Drive is be completed by June 1.   
 
April 2022:   The 2022 street program and Keavy Drive improvements pre-construction meeting 
was held on March 17, 2022.  The contractor is expected to begin concrete work in late April / 
early May with Asphalt work beginning in mid-summer. The Keavy Drive reconstruction work 
may begin sooner.  A meeting is to be held soon to discuss the Keavy Drive project schedule.   
The NKWD water main replacement project on Roselawn Drive was awarded to Larry Smith, 
Inc.  The preconstruction meeting for the Roselawn Drive Water Main Replacement has been 
scheduled for Wednesday, April 6, 2022.   
 
May 2022:  The water main replacement work on Roselawn Drive is underway and is expected 
to be complete by the end of May.  The City’s 2022 Street Program contractor, Michel’s 
Construction, began concrete work on Valley Square Drive on May 2.   
 
June 2022:  The water main replacement work on Roselawn Drive is substantially complete.  
Michel’s Construction continues the concrete replacement work on Valley Square Drive.   
 
July 2022:  The concrete replacement work on Valley Square Drive is expected to be completed 
by July 8, 2022.  The concrete replacement work on Roselawn Drive is expected to begin by 
July 8, 2022.  The roadway reconstruction work on Keavy Drive is expected to begin during the 
second week of July and the asphalt resurfacing work is expected to begin in late July.   
 
August 2022:  The Concrete replacement work on Valley Square Drive is complete and the 
concrete replacement work on Roselawn Drive is expected to complete later this month.  The 
roadway reconstruction work on Keavy Drive is now expected to begin later this month.  The 
Contractor has agreed to complete the asphalt resurfacing of Parkview Drive under a contract 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 4 of 8 
 

change by October 31st.  The concrete repair work on Parkview Drive is to be performed under 
the 2023 street program that will be bid in early 2023.   
 
September 2022:  All project work with the exception of the Keavy Drive Improvements is 
substantially complete.  The roadway reconstruction work on Keavy Drive is expected to begin 
during the third or fourth week of September.   
 
October 2022:  The Keavy Drive improvements are underway.  The roadway aggregate base 
has been placed and asphalt base course is expected to be placed on Friday, Oct. 7, 2022.  All 
remaining project work is expected to be substantially completed before October 31, 2022 
 
November 2022:  All project work including the Keavy Drive Improvements are substantially 
complete.   
 
December 2022:  The final inspection was performed on December 2, 2022.  All punch list items 
have been addressed.  The final invoice may be approved once the required closeout 
documentation has been provided.   
 
January 2023:  No Change 
 
 

3  

Fire Department Planning Study Project Number: 210935 

Comments: 
December 2021:  A proposal for design services related to facility planning and site planning 
work in connection with the City of Taylor Mill Fire Department was submitted on November 23, 
2021.  The proposal includes the evaluation of the fire department facility and City property to 
determine its feasibility and suitability for adding a New Fire Station or rehabilitating the current 
fire station under three different options 1) Create a New Fire Station Facility at north vacant 
parcel and renovate existing Fire Station building into a repurposed Public Works building 2) 
Remodel Admin/Bunkroom east wing only, and 3)Evaluate adding a new west wing 
Admin/Bunkroom addition and demolish the east Admin/Bunkroom wing.  The total proposed 
lump sum fee for this service is $25,000.   
 
January 2022:  The City Commissioners approved the fire department planning study proposal 
during the December 2021 Commissioners Meeting.  The authorization to proceed was issued 
on January 3, 2022.  An internal kick-off meeting is scheduled to be held on January 11th and 
the programming kick-off /interview meeting with the City will be scheduled shortly after.   
 
February 2022:  The kick-off meeting with the City is to be held on February 7, 2022.   
 
March 2022:  CT Consultants met with Commissioner Braden and Brian Haney to kick-off the 
fire department planning study. Chief John Steger and Asst. Chief General Fernbach were 
identified as primary members of the Fire Department planning study needs and analysis 
information gathering phase. A questionnaire was provided to both members and was received 
completed by our team. A programming interview was held on Tuesday 2/22 to review the 
responses and further understand the needs of the Department. A follow-up meeting is 
tentatively scheduled for the week of March 7th to review a preliminary site diagram 
memorializing necessary programming requirements. 
 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 5 of 8 
 

April 2022:  : CT Consultants met with Chief John Steger and Asst. Chief General Fernbach 
again on March 18, 2022 to review the design progress of (2) Firehouse Plan Design Concepts, 
both of which meet their approval as viable options.  A concept review presentation package 
for the April 27, 2022 Caucus Meeting consisting of building plan diagrams and site plan 
diagrams has been prepared for the City’s review.  A follow-up meeting was held on April 4th 
with Brian Haney to review the concept review presentation package.   
 
May 2022:  The design team continues to make revisions of the design concepts to reflect 
feedback provided by City staff.  The concept plans and estimates are expected to be presented 
at the May 25, 2022 Caucus Meeting.   
 
June 2022:  Updated concept plans were submitted to the City for staff review on March 16, 
2022.  Rough Order of Magnitude Opinion of Costs for the two Firestation Concepts were 
submitted to the City on May 20, 2022 for staff review.  The concept plans and estimates are 
expected to be presented at the June 22 Caucus Meeting.   
 
July 2022:  The concept plans and estimates were presented at the June 22, 2022 Caucus 
Meeting.  The Preliminary Opinion of Project Cost for Option 1- New Construction is approx. 
$9.23M and the Preliminary Opinion of Project Cost for Option 1- Rehabilitate Ex. Bays and 
New Addition is approx. $7.61M.  It was noted that the estimate for Option 2 is to be revised to 
include the relocation of the fuel pumps and possibly the tanks.  For comparison, the cost to 
perform the renovations to the existing firehouse as presented during the October 21 
Commissioners Meeting was $376,000.  The renovation project would only address 12 of the 
items that were originally recommended be performed.   The total opinion of construction cost 
for all the items was originally estimated at $730,000 in January 2021.   
 
August 2022:  No Change 
 
September 2022:  The public was invited to come to one of two open houses at the firehouse 
to view the facility in person.  The first open house was held on Tuesday, August 30, and the 
second open house was on Saturday, September 3.  A public hearing to discuss the Firehouse 
renovations/construction was held on Wednesday September 7, 2022 at 6PM in the Community 
Center.  The project is expected to be discussed during the September 28, 2022 Caucus 
Meeting.   
 
October 2022:  On October 4, 2022, CT was requested to provide updated costs for all 
recommended items in the original January 5, 2021 Facility Assessment.  In February 2021, the 
City Commissioners elected to move forward with construction plans (Project No. 201071) to 
address to the 12 of the 15 items originally recommended (Items 1-10 and 13 & 15).  The total 
original opinion of probable cost stated in the assessment was $730,000, which included 
professional services fees and contingency allowances.  The original opinion of probable cost 
stated in the assessment for the 12 items to be addressed by the construction plans was 
$256,000 that grew to $321,000 with the October 2021 construction cost estimate, not including 
two bid alternatives that cost an additional $51,000 (Partial removal of the hose tower & floor 
covering replacements in select areas).   
 
November 2022:  The City Commissioners voted to move forward with the design and 
construction of a new firehouse during the October Commissioners Meeting.  
 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 6 of 8 
 

December 2022:  No Change 
 
January 2023:  No Change 
 

4  

Vincent Drive Drainage & Roadway Improvements Project Number: TBD 

Comments: 
 
October 2021:  A fee proposal was submitted on September 22, 2021 for the design and 
construction engineering services associated with the proposed public improvements as 
included as outlined in Mason Carr Civil Engineer’s April 19, 2021 Technical Memorandum.  
The total estimated construction cost for the Vincent Drive Drainage and Roadway 
Improvements is approximately $804,700 ($245,700 Drainage & $559,000 Roadway).  The total 
estimated fee for this project is $91,400.   
 
November 2021 – December 2022:  No Change 
 
January 2023:  No Change 
 

5  

Pride Park Amphitheater Site Concept  Project Number TBD 

Comments: 
December 2021:  A fee proposal was submitted on November 23, 2021 for the facility planning 
and site planning work services associated with the construction of an amphitheater within Pride 
Park.  The total proposed lump sum fee for this service is $19,500.   
 
January 2022:  The City Commissioners elected to table the Pride Park Amphitheater planning 
proposal until there is a final ruling on the use of ARPA funds during the December 2021 
Commissioners Meeting.   
 
February 2022:  The U.S. Department of the Treasury issued the final rule of the State and 
Local Fiscal Recovery Funds provided through the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) on 
January 6, 2022.   
 
March 2022 – April 2022:  No Change 
 
May 2022:  The City was a Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) Grant from the Dept. 
of Local Government ($45,000 Grant + $46,250 Local = $91,250 Total) for construction of an 
amphitheater stage and associated drainage improvements.  The application included 
construction of a 40’ x 20’ x 12” thick (800 CF) concrete stage along with associated site 
drainage and utility improvements.   
 
June 2022:  The City is currently evaluating the location of the amphitheater stage and the 
project is on hold until the site is selected.   
 
July 2022:  No Change 
 
August 2022:  During the July Commissioners meeting it was decided that the concrete stage 
is to be constructed in the back field as opposed to existing Amphitheater area.  CT is to meet 
with Brian to review the proposed site.   



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
September 2022:  The City is currently working with the Department of Local Government to 
complete the required documentation prior to execution of the funding agreement and is 
researching nearby park stages for consideration.   
 
October 2022 – November 2022:  No Change 
 
December 2022:  A meeting was held with RCP shelters / Playpros, the band shell manufacturer 
used in the City of Edgewood’s Presidents Park Band Shell project to discuss options and 
pricing on December 5, 2022.   RCP shelters / Playpros is to provide details/information for the 
City to consider.   RCP shelters / Playpros indicated that the current lead-time on their products 
is approximately 6 months.   
 
January 2023:  During our December 5, 2023 conversion with RCP Shelters/Playpros, 
they mentioned that they were part of several purchasing cooperatives.  It was later 
noticed that RCP Shelters/Playpros was listed as a vendor under the KPC purchasing 
cooperative, which meets KY’s model procurement code.  .  It was also noticed that 
Kenton County Schools are members of KPC.  The funding MOA with the State states 
that the Local Agency (City) shall use its own procurement procedures that reflect 
applicable state and local laws for all purchase of goods or services (KRS 45A) related 
to the Project.  It also states that the project shall comply with 2 CRF Part 200, which 
includes the federal procurement standards.  On December 19, 2022, KPC has confirmed 
that their contracts  follow all requirements for KRS 45A and on December 30, 2022, KPC 
also confirmed that their contract is missing three federal clauses to comply with 2 CRF 
Part 200 however they may be added by a contract amendment.   Stamped bandshell 
drawings by RCP/Playpros for the City of Edgewood’s Presidents Park Band Shell was 
shared with the City on December 28, 2022.  On January 2, 2023, KPC confirmed that they 
could amend their contract with RCP/Playpros to include the missing clauses.  CT is 
currently scheduled to hold a meeting with KPC to discuss the project and next steps on 
January 6, 2023.   
 
 

6  

2023 Street Program Project Number 220835 

Comments: 
July 2022:  The following street segments are to be included in the 2023 Street Program per 
the City’s 5-year plan: Cleveland Avenue (from Howard Avenue to Forest View Lane), Forest 
View Lane, Hogan Street, and Wilson Road.  A field review of these streets was performed with 
Brian Haney and Marc Roden on June 9, 2022.  Public Works extracted four pavement cores 
from the existing pavement on June 30, 2022.  The purpose of the investigation was to 
determine the thickness of the existing asphalt/ concrete.  The existing asphalt thickness along 
Forest Drive varies from 4” to 6”.  The scope of repair work to be included under the 2023 Street 
program is expected to be finalized by the end of the month.   
 
August 2022:  A fee proposal was submitted on June 27, 2022 that includes the addition of the 
concrete replacement on Parkview Drive.  The total length of the 2023 street program is 3,520 
LF (0.67 miles) and the Preliminary Opinion of Construction Costs for these roadways as is 
$650,685.   
 



 

 

 January 4, 2023 

 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 

September 2022 – November 2022:  A fee proposal was submitted on September 6, 2022 that 
also includes improvements to the Pride Park roadway as well as sealing and restriping the 
three parking lots within Pride Park.  The total Preliminary Opinion of Construction Costs for all 
the improvements to be made under the 2023 Street Program as is $837,293.  The 2023 Street 
Program fee proposal is expected to be on the November Commissioners Meeting Agenda for 
approval.    
 
December 2022:   CT received project authorization on November 14, 2022.  A field review 
meeting is to be held on December 7, 2022.  90% construction drawings are anticipated to be 
available in January 2023 for a February 2023 bid opening.   
 
January 2023:  90% construction drawings and estimate are expected to be submitted 
for review by January 16, 2022.   
 
 



Fire Department Commission Report for: January 

Data for December 2022 

Fire and EMS Calls for Service 

EMS/RESCUE Calls: 
66 

Fire Department Service Calls: 
23 

Total Calls for Service: 
89 

 

 

 

EMS Level of Service: December Fire Prevention: December Training: December 

ALS Service Calls 33 Inspections: 0 Agency 
Training 
Hours 

116 

Training Classes 
• Pediatric 

EMS 

• Fire Control 

• Extinguishers 

• Fire Code 

• Pre-Plans 

• Foam 
Operations 

• Methodology 

BLS Service Calls 27 Re-Inspections: 0 

Total Hospital 
Transports 

 
37 

Violations: 0 Probationary:  
Ron Burchfield III – PT FF/EMT 

Public Events 

Current Projects • Santa’s Neighborhood Visit 

 
Department Activity Hours:  

• # Of Dept Activities: 492 

• Staff Activity Hours: 316 
 

Scott Phase 5 
Reserves of TM 

Tuscany Phase C 

Dept. Information: 

• 2022 Calls for Service – 978 Up 8.546% from 2021 901 Calls for Service 

o 781 EMS & 197 Fire/Rescue 

• 2022 Total Training Hours: 971 Class Hours, 2232 Total Personnel Training Hours 

• 2022 EMS Billing: Charges $365,941, Revenues $137,677  

 

• Fire Station Structural/Leak Issues – Progress 

• Dept. Closed out the 2022 Fire/EMS Training Program 

• Department’s Annual Chief’s Breakfast 

• Eng. 801 OOS with Pump Transfer Case Gear Issues 

Mutual Aid Given  Mutual Aid Received 

Covington   Covington 3 (1) EMS (2) Fire 

Piner   Wilder   

Ft. Wright 3 EMS Ft. Wright 2 Fire 

Ft. Mitchell   Wilder 1 Fire 

Independence 1 EMS Ryland Heights   

Ryland 7 EMS Ft. Mitchell 1 (1) Fire  



 

 

 

         City of Taylor Mill 
 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  January 4, 2023 
TO:  Brian Haney, CAO 
  Mayor and City Commissioners 
From:  Kristy Webb, City Clerk/Special Events Coordinator 
RE:  Recreation Report  
 

 

Past Events: 

Sun., December 18th: Holiday Yard Decoration Contest Judging 
Taylor Mill residents really got into the holiday spirit and decorated their yards 
beautifully and wonderfully. There were some streets in which every yard was 
decorated. 

1ST Place Winner: 20 N. Sunset Place 
2nd Place Winner: 6189 Parkland Court 
3rd Place Winner: 3264 Huntersridge Lane 

 
Upcoming Events: 

Fri., January 13th: Christmas Tree Recycling at Pride Park (Sponsored by Kenton County) 

Sat., Feb. 11th: We Love Our Volunteers! - Pancake Breakfast at Community Ctr for Volunteers  

Sat. April 1st: Easter Egg Hunt at Pride Park 
Sat. April 8th: Easter Egg Hunt at Pride Park RAINDATE 
Sat. April 22nd: Shred Event 
Fri. & Sat., May 26th & May 27th: City-wide Yard Sale 

 



 

 

 
 

January Report for December 2022 submitted by the Police Dept. 
 

Motor Vehicle Accidents:    

Accidents without injuries:    22 

Accidents with injuries:   2 

  Total 24 

   

Accidents on Pride Parkway at: 
w/Injuries 

w/o 
Injuries 

Honey Drive 0 1 

Taylor Creek Drive 0 0 

Blackstone Court 0 0 

Lakewood Drive 0 0 

Scott High School area 0 0 

Wayman Branch 0 0 

Intersection of Pride & TM Road 0 0 

Other Areas of Pride Parkway 0 2 

Total 1 3 

   
Citations      

Kentucky Uniform Citations   59 

Taylor Mill City Citations   0 

Courtesy Notices   2 

  Total 61 

   

Adult Offenses:     

Alcohol Intoxication   0 

Arson   0 

Assaults   1 

Auto Theft/Unauthorized Use of MV   0 

Burglary   0 

Criminal Mischief   0 

Drugs / Drug Paraphernalia   1 

DUI Arrest   0 

Forgery / Counterfeiting   0 

Fraud   0 

Others   0 

Sexual Offenses   0 

Shoplifting   0 

Theft (Except Auto Theft)   0 



Adult Offenses: (Continued) 

Traffic Violations   53 

Vandalism / Criminal Mischief   0 

Wanton Endangerment   0 

Warrant   6 

  Total 61 

   
Reports:     

Incident Reports   2 

Missing Person   0 

JC3 – Abuse Reports   0 

Overdose / QRT Referrals   0 

Death Investigation   0 

  Total 2 

   
Juvenile Incidents/Offenses:     

JC-3 / Assault / Domestic Violence   1 

Missing Person   0 

Criminal Mischief / Damage   0 

Sexual Offenses   2 

Alcohol / Drug Related   5 

Weapons (Handguns)   0 

Abuse of a Teacher   0 

Disorderly Conduct   0 

Harassing Communications 0 

Terroristic Threatening   2 

Beyond Control of School   0 

Crisis Intervention  0 

Theft   0 

Others   5 

  Total  
   

Additional Information: 

Alarm Drops   6 

Calls for Service   1215 

Physical Arrests   15 

Vacation / Business Checks   332 

   

Respectfully submitted, 

 
James E. Mills, Jr. 

Chief of Police 



 

 
 

         City of Taylor Mill 

 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  January 5, 2023 
TO:  Brian Haney, CAO 
  Mayor and City Commissioners 
From:  Marc Roden, Public Works Director 
RE:  Public Works Report  
 
 

PUBLIC WORKS REPORT 

Road and Street Maintenance 

1. We had a couple of days of snow and cold weather. We used 200 tons of salt and 30 tons of 

sand for this past snow and ice.   We had some trucks break down.  On one of the extremely 

cold weather days, all of our trucks and backhoe was outside and none of them would start due 

to the cold weather. We worked on them all day to get them running. One truck would not start 

at all that day, but a couple of days later when it warmed up, we got it running.  There are some 

lawns that we will need to do repairs to due to damage from the snow plow. 

2. We started replacing street signs and stop signs on Mason Road. 

3. There was water damage to the City building during the extreme cold weather temperatures. 

We came in to help clean the Police Department. Jerry repaired the water line break on the 

administrative side and repaired the furnace in the garage. 

 

Pride Park 

1. We have been taking care of the trash and mutt mitts, as well as checking on the 

shelter’s water lines. 

 

Thank you, 
Marc Roden 
Public Works Director 
































































































































	AGENDA January 2023 Agenda
	MINUTES combined
	12.14.22 Commission Meeting Minutes 14Dec2022
	01.06.23 Commission Meeting Minutes 6Jan2023 SP

	LEGISLATURE combined
	Municipal Order 126 - Appointment of the NKY Regional Ethics Authority
	Municipal Order 127 - Appointment to PDS Council
	Resolution 371 - KY Public Employees Deferred Comp Authority Agreement
	Proclamation Jessica Fisk - School Psychologist of the Year

	STAFF REPORTS - Combined
	CAO - Report January 2023
	Treasurer - January 2023 Report
	Engineer - January 2023 Report
	Fire - January 2023 Report
	Recreation - January 2023 Report
	Police - January 2023 Report
	Public Works - January 2023 Report

	OTHER ATTACHMENTS combined

